THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellant Case No. 2016-000553

---

Matthew L. Dawson and Kateri Dawson, Plaintiffs,  
Of whom Matthew L. Dawson is the Appellant,

v.

Ravenel Associates, Inc. d/b/a Ravenel Associates, Defendant.  
Mathew L. Dawson, Plaintiff,

v.

Village Green Homeowners Association, Defendant,  
Of whom Village Green Homeowners Association is the Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Matthew L. Dawson  
3290 Middleburry Lane  
Charleston, South Carolina 29414  
(843) 822-4338

RECEIVED  
JUL 15 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENTS BASED ON DECISION OF DUTY TO CARE FOR BREACH OF CONFIDENTIALITY?
2. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FILING AN ORDER GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENTS REGARDING THE BUSINESS JUDGMENT RULE WHICH WAS IN OPPOSITION OF THE CIRCUIT DECISION RENDERED?
3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT DECISION TO RESPONDENTS SINCE NO MOTION WAS SUBMITTED FOR A SUMMARY JUDGMENT HEARING?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 25, 2013, Appellant commenced his action with the filing of a summons and complaint for personal injuries seeking actual and punitive damages due to the negligence of the Respondents for issuing a censure and memo of counseling while Appellant was serving on the Board of Directors for the Respondents (R. pp. 34-39). Appellant characterized his actions as one in “tort-personal injury” as reflected on the civil action coversheet filed January 25, 2013.

Nearly two months later, Respondents served their answer to summons and complaint on March 21, 2013.

On May 27, 2014 a motion to consolidate two cases for discovery purposes only. Lower Court case numbers 2013-CP-10-457 and 2014-CP-10-2319. Motion order for case consolidation for only discovery purposes was granted September 19, 2014.

Respondents submitted a motion for summary judgment for the two causes of actions 1) defamation and 2) negligence on November 26, 2014 and filed on December 5, 2014 (R. pp. 32-33).

Appellant filed a motion for continuance on January 22, 2015 due to the fact that discovery had not yet been completed.

Respondents filed a memo in support of motion for summary judgment for the two causes of actions 1) defamation and 2) negligence on January 22, 2015 (R. pp. 15-24).

Filed on February 6, 2015 summary judgment was granted for only the defamation cause of action and the denying of the Appellant’s motion for continuance (R. p. 5). No other motion for summary judgment had been filed by Respondents.

However, counsel for Respondents were present for the summary judgment hearing on September 29, 2015 regarding the motion for summary judgment filed by counsel for Ravenel & Associates, case number 2014-CP-10-2319 on August 31, 2015. During the September 29, 2015 summary judgment hearing Judge R. Markley Dennis, Jr. granted summary judgment in part. A decision was rendered stating no duty to care by Ravenel & Associates, the Property Manager, and the Respondents for breach of confidentiality (R. pp. 44-59).

A Notice and Motion for Reconsideration was filed on October 29, 2015 by Appellant. The hearing for the Motion for reconsideration was February 18, 2016 and was denied (R. pp. 40-43).

Filed on January 19, 2016, was an Order Granting Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment regarding the business judgment rule which was unrelated to the summary judgment hearing decision on September 29, 2015 (R. pp. 1-4).

Appellant served his appeal on March 10, 2016 and it was filed on March 16, 2016. Appellant appeals the decision of duty to care for breach of confidentiality by the court since the summary and complaint by Appellant was not contract law theory concerning a breach of confidentiality. In addition, the appeal addresses the incorrectly filed summary judgment order filed.

## ARGUMENTS

### I. BECAUSE THE DUTY TO CARE FOR BREACH OF CONFIDENTIALITY WAS NOT THE BASIS OF THE APPELLANT'S SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT, THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT.

Appellant filed summons and complaint on January 25, 2013 (R. pp 34-39). The summons and complaint contained two causes of actions 1) defamation and 2) negligence. The negligence cause of action was not in regards to contract law with a breach of confidentiality. The summons was in regards to negligence as it relates to Respondent's authority to censure or counsel the Appellant, careless and reckless handling of Resident's allegations, Respondent scope of authority in handling the allegations, no basis in for publicly humiliating the Appellant, no basis for bringing adverse action against the Appellant, Respondent's did not follow proper procedure in handling the matter, and that the Respondent did not act as a reasonable and prudent person would have done under the circumstances then and there prevailing.

There was no contract law theory and breach of confidentiality issue in the summons and complaint for Circuit Court case number 2013-CP-10-457. The Circuit Court motion summary hearing on September 29, 2015 was only regarding case number 2014-CP-10-2319 for which the basis of the case was breach of confidentiality (R. pp. 44-59). The Circuit Court erred in rendering a decision in regards to the Appellant's Circuit Court case 2013-CP-10-457 for duty to care for breach of confidentiality (R. pp 44-59).

II. BECAUSE THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT RULE MUST BE SET ASIDE WHEN THE BOARD ACTS OUTSIDE OF THEIR AUTHORITY, LACKS GOOD FAITH, LACKS COMPETENCE, FAIR DUE PROCESS, AND FAILURE TO EXERCISE DUE CARE IN DISCHARGING THEIR RESPONSIBILITIES IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE BYLAWS, THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT

An order granting summary judgment to Respondent's was filed on January 19, 2016 (R. pp. 1-4). Although the order is considered to be filed in err, Appellant is compelled to respond to the order. Respondents are not entitled to use the business judgment rule as it does not meet all its elements as noted in *Fisher v Shipyard Vill Council of Co-Owners, Inc*, 409 SC 164, 180-81; 760 SE2d 121, 129-30 (2014).

The Board of Directors were to act within their authority (intra vires), act in good faith, act without fraud, act without corrupt motives, act with competence, and act with honesty. As the argument below presents, the Respondents did not meet any of the business judgment rule elements and therefore the business judgment rule should be set aside.

The summons and complaint was filed on January 25, 2013 with two causes of actions (R. pp. 34-39). The summons and complaint filed by Appellant consisted of a cause of action for defamation and a cause of action for negligence. The Respondents acted outside of their authority, did not perform their duty to investigate accusations, and failed to follow the governing document bylaws for due process in issuing a censure and memo of counseling.

The censure and memo of counseling received at a special meeting on April 24, 2012 by the Respondents was unwarranted and outside the Respondents scope of authority (R. p. 69).

There was no basis for the disciplinary action as there was no wrongdoing by Appellant, as the VGHOA Board member, Treasurer, and/or ARB Chairman, as stated by the VGHOA Board Interim President, Shawn Toole, in his April 17, 2012 email (R. p. 77; R. p. 110 - Deposition-Shawn Toole, Pg 6, Transcript pg 24, lines 1-7).

No evidence exists to support an investigation was conducted by the Respondents. The Respondents failed their duty to investigate the accusations from the residents Dave Malara and Virginia Adrihan residing at 3286 Middlebury Lane (Residents). No investigation was conducted by the Respondents as indicated by the Residents depositions. Residents state they only provided their list of accusations, provided no supporting documentation for their accusations, and were never contacted by the Respondents for any information (R. p. 101 - Deposition-David Malara, Pg 2, Transcript pg 8, line 11-25; R. p. 105; R. p. 106 - Pg 43, Transcript pg 169, line 12-15; R. p. 107 - Deposition-Virginia Adrihan, Pg 4, Transcript pg 15, line 9-18; R. p. 108 - Deposition-Virginia Adrihan, Pg 8, Transcript pg 32, line 1-13). No meetings were scheduled or conducted by the Respondents with the Residents or the Appellant's spouse who was also named in the list of accusations submitted by the Residents (R. pp. 78-79). In addition, no discovery documents from the Respondents have been provided that substantiates any possible claims to an investigation into the accusations or would support a legitimate business decision for any disciplinary action by the Respondents (R. p. 109 - Deposition-Shawn Toole-Pg 2, Transcript pg 7, lines 18-25, Transcript pg 8, lines 1-3). Although VGHOA Board Member Nadine Evans in her deposition page 3, transcript page 11, lines 12-25 (R. p. 118), she states that she provided Respondents Attorneys all her documents, however,

Respondent's Attorneys did not provide those documents in the discovery process. In fact the Respondents Attorneys have not provided any discovery documents.

There were only five official meetings beginning when Residents presented their unsupported accusations to the censure meeting. No meeting discussed a censure and/or memo of counseling as Respondents Attorneys claimed in the January 19, 2016 Order Granting Summary Judgment (R. p. 3). The first meeting held on March 19, 2012 and was a Regular scheduled meeting where the Residents presented their unsupported accusations (R. pp. 60-63).

The second meeting was a Special meeting held on March 26, 2013 (R. p. 64). The meeting was scheduled to hear from me regarding the accusations by the Residents. However, during the meeting I was told not to respond to the Residents' accusations. The VGHOA Board reviewed the accusations by the Residents and during the meeting agreed they were in a personal in nature between neighbors and not within the VGHOA Board's scope of authority to be involved (*ultra vires*). VGHOA Board Member Bob Borregard was the first to state it was a personal issue and outside of the VGHOA Board's scope of authority. He later resigned stating in an email his reason was that he was not on the VGHOA Board to resolve personal issues of residents and it was serving the community (R. p. 92 - Affidavit-Matthew Dawson, Exhibit 26). Another Board Member, Laura Deaton felt I should resign as the ARB Chairman to appease Dave Malara to avoid a legal battle (R. p. 92 - Affidavit-Matthew Dawson, Exhibit 27). Board Member Nadine Evans was already aware of Dave Malara's behavior. According to Nadine Evans' emails she had known of other community disturbances created by Dave Malara. Nadine Evans stated that she too had been a target of Dave Malara and knew of others in the community

that had personal attacks levied on them as well (R. p. 93; R. p. 94). Appellant also believes he was a target of a personal attack by the Residents.

The third meeting was a Special meeting held on April 2, 2012 (R. p. 65). Appellant was unable to attend due to work commitments. In my absence, I submitted a statement to be read by the VGHOA Board during the meeting (R. pp. 95-96). The meeting was scheduled to review the letter submitted by the Residents containing accusations with a request for my removal from the VGHOA Board and as the ARB Chairman. There were no discussions of any disciplinary actions by the VGHOA Board and there were no motions to either remove Appellant as a VGHOA Board member and/or as the ARB Chairman as written in the meeting minutes. Appellant resigned June 2012 and while on the Board for only six months of service in 2012, he was to be awarded a certificate of appreciation at the 2012 Annual Meeting from Nadine Evans (R. p. 97). VGHOA Board Member Nadine Evans states in another email that she wanted to “make things right” by awarding me the certificate of appreciation (R. p. 98). Important note is that Nadine Evans was also one of the VGHOA Boards members at the censure meeting April 24, 2012 (R. p. 69).

The fourth meeting was a Regular meeting held on April 16, 2012 (R. pp. 66-68). The meeting only conducted regular meeting business and discussed no disciplinary actions such as a censure or memo of counseling.

The fifth meeting was a Special meeting held April 24, 2012 (R. p. 69). This meeting was not to discuss a censure and memo of counseling, but rather give a censure and memo of counseling.

1. The first part of the document discusses the importance of maintaining accurate records of all transactions.

2. It is essential to ensure that all entries are supported by appropriate evidence and documentation.

3. The second part of the document outlines the various methods used to collect and analyze data.

4. These methods include both qualitative and quantitative approaches, each with its own strengths and limitations.

5. The third part of the document provides a detailed overview of the theoretical framework underlying the study.

6. This framework is based on a combination of established theories and new insights from recent research.

7. The fourth part of the document describes the research design and the specific procedures used to conduct the study.

8. The design is a mixed-methods approach, allowing for a comprehensive understanding of the research questions.

9. The fifth part of the document presents the results of the study, including both the quantitative data and the qualitative findings.

10. The results show a clear relationship between the variables studied, supporting the hypotheses of the study.

11. The sixth part of the document discusses the implications of the findings and their potential applications in practice.

12. These implications are significant and provide valuable insights into the field of study.

13. The seventh part of the document concludes the study and offers suggestions for further research.

14. Future studies should explore the long-term effects of the interventions and the role of other factors.

15. The eighth part of the document provides a summary of the key findings and the overall conclusions of the study.

16. The study has contributed to the understanding of the research topic and has provided a solid foundation for future work.

17. The final part of the document includes a list of references and a list of figures and tables.

18. The references are carefully selected to provide a comprehensive overview of the literature on the topic.

The stated purpose of the meeting did not follow the Bylaws of the VGHOA Association as it relates to using the Roberts Rules of Order-revised in conducting meetings. The special meeting was stated as “the proposed censure of HOA Board Member and ARB Chairman from all Homeowner Association business directly pertaining to 3286 Middlebury Lane from this point forward.” An expert parliamentarian with over thirty years of experience, Liz Guthridge, reviewed the VGHOA Bylaws, Special Meeting minutes, emails and other correspondence, and Roberts Rules of Order-revised and provided an affidavit (R. pp. 70-76 - Affidavit-Liz Guthridge). The affidavit supports the fact that the Respondents were incompetent, acted improperly, did not respect a fellow board member’s confidentiality, and did not follow the Bylaws in using the Roberts Rules of Order-revised, and misused the censure and memo of counseling.

The Respondents did not bring any charges and hold a trial before the assembly or a committee. Respondents acted in bad faith and dishonesty when they did not notify Appellant of any wrongdoing so that Appellant could prepare and present his case to the Board. Appellant was not provided any due process. There was no notification of a censure and/or memo of counseling until the time and day of the April 24, 2012 meeting. The Respondents acted in bad faith and incompetency when not handling the censure meeting as an Executive Session rather than a Special meeting so to maintain a level of confidentiality (R. p. 74). To this day the minutes of the censure meeting are still posted on the Respondents website.

The complete process for the April 24, 2012 censure meeting was inappropriate which is supported by the affidavit from an expert Parliamentarian. The Respondents attempted to amend

the original motion for censure, but failed to present an appropriate amendment motion. The original motion had been voted on which made it closed. The original motion was a censure that included no mention of a memo. Any amendment to the original motion needed to be germane to the original motion and not include additional wording or have substituted words (R. pp. 90-91). An amendment regarding a censure memo or memo of counseling documents were inappropriate for which to alter an already voted motion (R. p. 91). Therefore, according to the meeting minutes, it was concluded that a censure was imposed along with a memo of counseling, both of which were never supported with any reason(s) or substantiation. The special meeting voting is also misrepresented because the accused has no voting rights. In conclusion, the meeting in its entirety was inappropriate. The censure was not "FOR" a wrongful act that was committed, but was a censure refraining "FROM" committing a wrongful act.

The Board issued Appellant a censure and memo of counseling based purely on the written accusations from the Residents. As uncovered in accuser resident Dave Malara's deposition under oath, he has a willingness and intention for a disregard of the truth. Three instances from his deposition clearly indentified intent to commit perjury. The first was when asked whether he had any litigation in the State of South Carolina and the second was when asked if he was in litigation with Virginia Adrihan. He clearly states "NO" two separate times to litigation in South Carolina and also "NO" to litigation with Virginia Adrihan (R. p. 102). However, the Charleston County Government website shows numerous cases of litigation with a

pending litigation with Virginia Adrihan (R. pp. 80-82). The third intent was when asked about being a State Constable. Dave Malara stated he was not a State Constable because it was a volunteer job that didn't pay anything (R. p. 103 - Deposition-David Malara, Pg 22, Transcript pg 87). The truth was that Dave Malara violated three sections of South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) policies and procedures and was required by SLED to surrender his credentials and commission immediately to them (R. p. 83).

The disciplinary proceedings that took place on April 24, 2012 were unwarranted and without basis and conducted outside the parliamentary procedure guidelines of the Roberts Rules of Order-revised. According to the VGHOA Board By-Laws the VGHOA Board is to conduct parliamentary procedures using Roberts Rules of Order-revised (R. p. 84). However, Roberts Rules of Order were neglected in the conducting of the meeting. The President at the time of the censure was Shawn Toole and he admits that the Roberts Rules of Order were followed "loosely" and admitted to a particular and important process that was not followed (R. p. 113 - Deposition-Shawn Toole, Pg 9, Transcript pg 34, line 4). Shawn Toole also noted in his deposition that this whole censure process was not important to him (R. p. 111 - Deposition-Shawn Toole, Pg 7, Transcript pg 25, lines 18-22). It is unsettling to know that the Respondents did not have any case file with documentation regarding the censure and that the President of the VGHOA Board did not find it important to him. This was very important to the Appellant and he would have expected the VGHOA Board to act professionally and responsibly to conduct an investigation of the Residents accusations. Not following Roberts Rules of Order-revised and acting unprofessionally and negligently was reflected in the disciplinary meeting, as well, as the

entire process. Appellant's research of Roberts Rules of Order-revised uncovered that they were not followed at all.

First, the disciplinary meeting should not have been a "special meeting," but rather an "executive session" according to Roberts Rules of Order in order to maintain confidentiality of any and all details (R. p. 85). A censure is a punishment for an act that has already been committed (R. pp. 86-87). The censure given at the special meeting was not within the guidelines of a censure in accordance with Roberts Rules of Order-revised. The censure was egregiously inappropriate as it was for an act not yet committed. There were also no charges presented and no investigation conducted as required (R. pp. 88-89; R. pp. 74). Incompetency by the Respondents was reflected in the deposition of VGHOA Board Member, Nadine Evans. She did not know the meaning of the word "censure" and that it was something to "satisfy" the Residents complaint (R. p. 119 - Deposition-Nadine Evans, Pg 9, Transcript pg 34, lines 8-25).

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