THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Ninth Judicial Circuit
R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 03 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-000553

Matthew L. Dawson and Kateri Dawson, Plaintiffs,
Of whom Matthew L. Dawson is the Appellant,

v.

Ravenel Associates, Inc. d/b/a Ravenel Associates, Defendant.

Matthew L. Dawson, Plaintiff,

v.

Village Green Homeowners Association, Defendant,
Of whom Village Green Homeowners Association is the Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT VILLAGE GREEN
HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION**

Carlock, Copeland & Stair, LLP
40 Calhoun Street, Suite 400

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT APPROPRIATELY GRANTED RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE RESPONDENT ACTED WITHIN ITS SCOPE OF AUTHORITY IN INVESTIGATING AND DISCIPLINING APPELLANT AND SUCH CONDUCT IS SUBJECT TO THE BUSINESS JUDGMENT RULE AS ESTABLISHED BY SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.

A corporation can only "exercise the powers granted to it by law, its charter or articles of incorporation, and any bylaws made pursuant thereto." *Lovering v. Seabrook Island Prop. Owners Ass'n*, 289 S.C. 77, 82, 344 S.E.2d 862, 865 (Ct. App. 1986). When a corporation acts within its scope of authority, such conduct is considered *intra vires*. "Acts beyond the scope of a corporation's powers as defined by law or its charter are *ultra vires*." *Id.* In South Carolina, the business judgment rule operates to preclude judicial review of *intra vires* actions taken by a corporate governing board absent a showing of a lack of good faith, fraud, self-dealing or unconscionable conduct. *Dockside Ass'n, Inc. v. Detyens*, 294 S.C. 86, 87, 362 S.E.2d 874, 874 (1987) (internal citation omitted).

"In a dispute between the directors of a homeowners association and aggrieved homeowners, the conduct of the directors should be judged by the 'business judgment rule,' and absent a showing of good faith, dishonesty, or incompetence, the judgment of the directors will not be set aside by judicial action." *Goddard v. Fairways Dev. Gen. P'ship*, 310 S.C. 408, 414, 426 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct. App. 1993). "The burden of proving good faith is not on the governing board; the burden of proving a lack of good faith is borne, rather, by those challenging the board's actions." *Dockside Ass'n, Inc.*, 294 S.C. at 87, 362 S.E.2d at 874. Within the context of decisions by a homeowners association, the "business judgment rule applies to actions allowed

by the Master Deed, Bylaws, and [South Carolina Horizontal Property Act], *intra vires* acts.” *Fisher v. Shipyard Village Council of Co-Owners, Inc.*, 409 S.C. 164, 180, 760 S.E.2d 121, 130 (2014).

As applied to this case, the business judgment rule operates to preclude judicial review of all Board action within its scope of authority as established by South Carolina law, the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Village Green (“Covenants”), the Bylaws of Village Green (“Bylaws”), and the ARB Guidelines.

A. Respondent fulfilled its obligation to reasonably investigate the Complaint Letter filed by Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-801(b), all corporate powers must be exercised by or under the authority of and the affairs of the corporation managed under the direction of its board. This includes, without limitation, the power to “sue and be sued, complain, and defend in its corporate name” and to “do all things necessary or convenient, not inconsistent with law, to further the activities and affairs of the corporation.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 33-31-302(1), (18). Pursuant to Article VI, Section 1 of the Bylaws, the Board shall be responsible for managing the business and affairs of Village Green HOA. Section 1(c) of Article VIII further states that the Board shall exercise for Village Green HOA all powers, duties and authority vested in or delegated to Village Green HOA and not otherwise reserved to the membership by other provisions of the Bylaws, Articles of Incorporation, or the Declaration.

Within the broad scope of authority established by South Carolina law and the governing documents of Village Green HOA is the obligation of the Board to investigate complaints filed by homeowners or other third parties. In this case, Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan presented a Complaint Letter to the Board outlining multiple instances in which Appellant abused his power

as Board member and ARB Chairman. (Supp. R. pp. 24-25). Specifically, the Complaint Letter alleged Appellant inappropriately confronted Mr. Malara about various ARB issues, used vulgar language on multiple occasions, and generally used his position as Board member and ARB Chairman to “harass, discredit and slander” Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan. (Supp. R. pp. 24-25). The Complaint Letter further requested that Appellant be removed from his positions as Board member and ARB Chairman immediately and threatened legal action against Respondent if it failed to do so. (Supp. R. p. 25).

At this point, and in order to protect itself from future litigation, Respondent began its investigative efforts. On March 19, 2012, Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan addressed the Board to discuss the allegations set forth in their Complaint Letter. Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan further requested that the Board call a special meeting to consider the Complaint Letter and how it intended to resolve the issues set forth therein. The Board agreed to do so and scheduled a special meeting for March 26, 2012. During this meeting, the Board went into Executive Session to further discuss the Complaint Letter and afford Appellant the opportunity to be heard on the allegations. Shawn Toole (“Mr. Toole”), President of the Board at that time, testified as follows:

Q: And so with regard to March 26th, 2012, you already testified that you didn’t have any specific recollection about what happened at that meeting; is that correct?

A: I remember at that meeting that Matt had the opportunity to address us and give us some background on the situation. Putting these three documents together reminded me of a couple of things. Yeah. So that was – I think that was the meeting where Matt shared with us the situation that was taking place at the Malara’s residence. I think this came after the complaint from Malara.

[. . .]

Q: But you recall Matt Dawson having an opportunity to share what happened?

A: I do. I don't remember the specifics at this time, but I remember him sharing with us that there was some possible ARB issues with that residence.

(Supp. R. p. 227, 19:13-24; Supp. R. p. 227, 20:6-10).

After an hour in Executive Session regarding this issue, the Board adjourned without a decision. On April 2, 2012, the Board held another special meeting to consider the disciplinary measures requested by Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan in their Complaint Letter. Specifically, the Board met to discuss whether Appellant should be removed from his position as Board member or ARB Chairman. Appellant did not attend this meeting, but submitted a letter to the Board outlining his position regarding the allegations set forth in the Complaint Letter and offering his perspective on the same. Ultimately, this meeting was adjourned without the presentation of a motion to remove Appellant from either position.

On April 16, 2012, the Board reconvened for its regular monthly meeting. Among the items to be addressed was the "ARB Committee Chairman Censure." (Supp. R. p. 228, 22:10-16). However, upon reaching this item on the agenda, Mr. Toole made a motion to "remove" it from further deliberation. Mr. Toole was asked in his deposition why the motion was tabled and testified as follows:

A: And I can't tell you why I made a motion for it to be removed. That – that doesn't necessarily mean that we had resolved the matter. We could have just removed it to discuss it at the next meeting.

[. . .]

Q: Was there a determination made at the April 16th, 2012 meeting that a determination was made that Matt Dawson did not misuse his position as ARB chairman?

A: We didn't discuss it. It was tabled.

(Supp. R. p. 228, 23:14-24:12).

Finally, on April 24, 2012, the Board met at the request of Appellant for another special meeting to discuss a final resolution to the Complaint Letter of Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan. Four Board members, including Appellant, were present for the meeting. During the meeting, Board member Heather McKelvey made a motion to approve the censure of Appellant. (R. p. 69). This motion was carried by a majority vote. (R. p. 69). At that point, Appellant expressed concern that the censure could affect his career as a Certified Public Accountant and requested the Board reconsider its decision. Upon further review, the Board agreed to revoke the censure and issue a memo of counseling to Appellant. (R. p. 69).

The memo of counseling served to express the Board's disapproval with Appellant's involvement in particular matters related to 3286 Middlebury Lane, the residence of Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan, as ARB Chairman. The memo of counseling further required that Appellant remove himself from all future issues directly pertaining to 3286 Middlebury Lane (the residence of Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan). Finally, the Board required that Appellant attend several training/educational seminars.

Beginning with its receipt of Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan's Complaint Letter on March 19, 2012, the Board engaged in reasonable efforts to investigate the allegations set forth therein, determine the appropriate response, and mitigate the threat of future litigation against it. In his deposition, Appellant even acknowledged the Board should investigate all threats of possible litigation:

Q: When a board of directors receives a threat of litigation, is it reasonable for that board to do some due diligence and look into this threat?

A: Yes, they should.

(Supp. R. p. 361, 337:5-9).

The Complaint Letter was on the agenda of two regular monthly meetings and three special meetings were called to exclusively address how the Board should respond to the Complaint Letter. During these meetings, the Board considered all relevant documentation and also offered both parties the opportunity to further explain the situation. Specifically, Mr. Toole testified:

Q: Was there any particular things that the – say, a board member or the board in general or anybody did to investigate this matter?

A: We looked at the documents that were presented to us, most of what you've shown me here.

(Supp. R. p. 232, 38:2-6).

Mr. Toole further testified as follows:

Q: Do you have any recollection of when the board met to discuss that?

A: Again, like I've said a couple of times, we met so many times about this issue. . . . And that was some information that we had received from Dave Malara and – and, again, these things were coming in. We were getting personal E-mails –

Q: From Dave Malara?

A: -- from Malara and from Matt during this period of time. There were phone calls. There was a lot of communication going on about this. The meeting and the minutes aren't reflective of the only time communications were being made about this topic.

(Supp. R. p. 229, 24:24-25; Supp. R. p. 230, 25:1-15).

Based on the above, it is evident that the Board considered all evidence relevant to the Complaint Letter and afforded both parties ample opportunity to be heard on the matter before reaching a decision on April 24, 2012. Thus, it acted reasonably and within its scope of authority as provided by South Carolina law and all governing documents by investigating the allegations of Appellant's misuse and abuse of power and issuing a memo of counseling to Appellant for his unprofessional conduct.

B. Respondent acted reasonably and within its authority to discipline Appellant for his misuse and abuse of power as set forth in the Complaint Letter filed by Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-830(a), a director shall discharge his duties in good faith, with the care an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances, and in a manner that the director reasonably believes to be in the best interests of the corporation. If a member fails to act in accordance with requirements of his or her position as established by S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-830(a) or any other governing documents, the member may be subject to discipline by the Board.

Generally, the Board's authority to discipline a member is established by Section 1 of Article VI of the Bylaws. This provision states that the business and affairs of the Association shall be managed by the Board of Directors. (Supp. R. p. 100). More specifically, the Bylaws also state that any Board member may be removed, with or without cause, at the discretion of the Board. (Supp. R. p. 101). The Board is also guided by Robert's Rules of Order, which provides that the Board may censure or otherwise discipline a member if it determines that he or she acted inappropriately. A censure can also operate to separate the Board from the actions of a single member so as not to incur liability or exposure to liability for the remaining Board members.

These provisions grant wide latitude to the Board in determining if a member's conduct warrants discipline and in assigning the appropriate measure of discipline on a case-by-case basis.

In 2008, Mr. Malara purchased the property located at 3286 Middlebury Lane in Charleston, South Carolina. At the time, Appellant resided at the house next-door. Over the next several years, Mr. Malara and Appellant grew to be "social friends" with each other. As Appellant testified, this friendship included spending time with each other on multiple occasions each week. (Supp. R. p. 289, 52:16-17). Mr. Malara and Appellant often watched football games together and the two of them, along with Mrs. Dawson and Ms. Adrihan, would occasionally go to dinner together. (Supp. R. p. 289, 52:18-25; Supp. R. p. 290, 53:1-3). This relationship continued until November 2011. On November 8, 2011, Mrs. Dawson submitted an online complaint to Ravenel, the property management group for Village Green HOA, regarding trash accumulation on the side of Mr. Malara's home. Following the complaint, Appellant testified that both parties agreed to "move forward" and maintain a respectful relationship. (Supp. R. p. 393, 464:23). However, by December 2011, it was apparent the parties were incapable of doing so.

On December 8, 2011, Mr. Malara and Ms. Adrihan sent an email to Appellant and Mrs. Dawson in effort to put closure to the situation. (Supp. R. p. 195, 84:20). Several hours later, Appellant responded with a profanity-laced email. This email, which Appellant read into the record during his deposition, stated as follows:

A: Okay.

You motherfucker, Dave, I work during the day, unlike you, so sorry if I didn't call you. After reading your ridiculous letter, I don't even want to talk to you. By the way, you feed Whiskers – this is our cat. You even

bought food and a damn bed. How dare you say we go over there and feed him snacks. I don't doubt it happened a time or two, but the snacks given were the snacks/food you bought. I can't fucking believe what I just read. You are a damn asshole and I can't even think straight to write this email. You are certainly right we are not friends. You want to go that route, then go with it. You can take your codes and shove them up your ass. I'll be sure to share that letter with everyone as it is so ass backwards.

Yes, your fence was approved by the ARB, but does not meet the ARB guidelines. It was to go up to the corner of the house which it doesn't. Your fence does not go all the way around your property, so your trailer and other trash you have been accumulating can be seen from other surrounding properties and from the pond easement. Your shed violates ARB guidelines by not being made of wood and on a slab, so get rid of it NOW.

Also, don't be throwing any gambling parties and providing alcohol to minors. A good cop wouldn't do that, but then again you won't be a cop in any town around here, trust me on that.

One more time. FUCK YOU!!!!!!

(Supp. R. p. 340, 254:25-256:4).

In his deposition, Appellant admitted that the email was "out of line." (Supp. R. p. 302, 104:10). At the time of this correspondence, Appellant was a member of the Board, but was not ARB Chairman. However, in February 2012, Appellant nominated himself to become ARB Chairman and the Board voted to appoint him to this position.

On March 16, 2012, several weeks after Appellant's appointment as ARB Chairman, Mr. Malara began installing security cameras on his property. Appellant, in his new capacity, then proceeded to text message Mr. Malara the following: "Please submit ARB form for approval of the cameras or lights you just installed. All additions must run through ARB. Thank you." (Supp. R. p. 168). Mr. Malara then responded to inquire about the identity of who sent the text message. In response, Appellant stated: "ARB Chair. Thank you for your cooperation." (Supp.

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